
 
 

27 February 2024 at 7.00 pm 
 
Council Chamber, Argyle Road, Sevenoaks 
Published: 19.02.24 
This meeting will be livestreamed to YouTube here: 
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UClT1f_F5OfvTzxjZk6Zqn6g  
 

 

Standards Committee  
 

 
Membership: 
Chairman, Cllr. Ball; Vice-Chairman, Cllr. Grint   
Cllrs. Leaman, Manston, Maskell, Robinson and Williamson 
 

Agenda 
There are no fire drills planned. If the fire alarm is activated, which is a continuous 
siren with a flashing red light, please leave the building immediately, following the fire 
exit signs. 
 
 
Apologies for Absence 
 

Pages Contact 

 
1.   Minutes  (Pages 1 - 2)  
 To agree the Minutes of the meeting of the 

Committee held on 31 January 2023, as a correct 
record 
  

  

 
2.   Declarations of interest    
 Any interests not already registered. 

 
  

 
3.   Monitoring Officer's Annual Report  (Pages 3 - 18) Martin Goodman 

Tel: 01732 227245 
  

 EXEMPT INFORMATION  
  
At the time of preparing this agenda there were no exempt items. During any 
such items which may arise the meeting is likely NOT to be open to the public. 
  

    
If you wish to obtain further factual information on any of the agenda items listed 
above, please contact the named officer prior to the day of the meeting. 
 
Should you need this agenda or any of the reports in a different format, or  
have any other queries concerning this agenda or the meeting please contact 
Democratic Services on 01732 227000 or democratic.services@sevenoaks.gov.uk. 
 
 

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UClT1f_F5OfvTzxjZk6Zqn6g
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UClT1f_F5OfvTzxjZk6Zqn6g


This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 
 

STANDARDS COMMITTEE 
 

Minutes of the meeting held on 31 January 2023 commencing at 7.00 pm 
 
 
Present: Cllr. Ball (Chairman) 

 
Cllr. Raikes (Vice-Chairman) 

  
 Cllrs. Grint and Pender 

 
 Apologies for absence were received from Cllr. Fothergill 

 
 
  
1.    Minutes  

 
Resolved: That the Minutes of the meeting held on 5 April 2022 be approved 
and signed by the Chairman as a correct record.  
  

2.    Declarations of interest  
 

There were none. 
  
3.    Monitoring Officer's Annual Report  

 
Members considered the eighteenth annual report of the Monitoring Officer, which 
set out the work of the Monitoring Officer and Standards Committee. Within the 
report was a breakdown of the complaints that had been received from January to 
December 2022. The report also indicated that the key legal provisions and 
challenges facing the Council had not changed since 2021. 

The Monitoring Officer presented the report which clarified that only five formal 
code of conduct complaints were received that year in comparison to eleven the 
previous year, which indicated that the Code of Conduct was well observed and 
accessible to those who wished to make a formal complaint. The Monitoring Officer 
advised that in his opinion the report demonstrated that robust procedures 
remained in place to maintain good governance and ethical standards at the 
Council. Members asked questions of clarification. 

A Member asked a question about the Council’s surveillance responsibilities. The 
Monitoring Officer advised that there was a typographical error in the report which 
would be corrected and that to his knowledge, the Council had not carried out 
surveillance under the Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (RIPA) in 2022. 
He agreed to confirm his understanding and update Members. 

In response to a question it was confirmed that The Council had appointed two 
independent persons in line with legislation whom had a statutory role under the 
Localism Act 2011 to assist any Member who had been accused of breaching the 
Code of Conduct. Independent Persons could be reviewed by the Committee in line 

Page 1

Agenda Item 1



Standards Committee - 31 January 2023 

2 
 

with good governance arrangements although Members were advised that a review 
would be best undertaken in the new civic year once the membership of the 
Committee had been confirmed. 

Public Sector Equality Duty 
Members noted that consideration had been given to impacts under the Public 
Sector Equality Duty.  

Resolved: That 

a) subject to the correction of typographical errors the report, be noted; 
and; 

b) it be recommended to Council that the report be noted. 

  
 

THE MEETING WAS CONCLUDED AT 7.15 PM 
 
 
 
 

CHAIRMAN 
 
 
 

Page 2

Agenda Item 1



MONITORING OFFICER’S ANNUAL REPORT 

Standards Committee – 27 February 2024 

 
 

Introduction and Background 

1 The nineteenth Annual Report of the Monitoring Officer is attached as an 
Appendix to this report. 
 

2 The purpose of the Monitoring Officer’s Report is to provide an annual 
overview of the work of the Monitoring Officer, the work of the Standards 
Committee and the general governance arrangements of the Council. 
   

3 Reporting provides an opportunity to review and learn from experience.  
The Report also gives Members of the Standards Committee background 
information to facilitate the carrying out of their functions. 
 

4 The Monitoring Officer’s Report sets out the Monitoring Officer’s statutory 
responsibilities and summarises how these duties were discharged during 
2023 in accordance with legislation and the Council’s Constitution.   

Report of: Monitoring Officer

Status: For Consideration

Also considered by: Council – 23 April 2024

Key Decision: No

Contact Officer: Martin Goodman, ext. 7245

Recommendation to Standards Committee: That the Monitoring Officer’s 
report be noted. 

Recommendation to Council: That the Monitoring Officer’s report be noted.

Reason for recommendation: This report sets out the work of the Monitoring 
Officer and Standards Committee.  It also reports upon the governance 
arrangements monitored by other committees and as such provides information 
on the ethical standards set by the Council.  It is intended to promote Member 
and public confidence in the Council’s governance framework and standards 
regime.

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



Key Implications 

Financial 

The Monitoring Officer’s Report has not identified any financial implications for 
this Council over and above normal requirements. 

Legal Implications and Risk Assessment Statement 

The Monitoring Officer’s Report has not uncovered any illegality. 

Equality Assessment  (Compulsory heading – do not delete) 

The decisions recommended through this paper have a remote or low relevance to 
the substance of the Equality Act. There is no perceived impact on end users. 

Net Zero Implications 

The decisions recommended through this paper have a remote or low relevance to 
the Council’s ambition to be Net Zero by 2030.  There is no perceived impact 
regarding either an increase or decrease in carbon emissions in the District or 
supporting the resilience of the natural environment. 

Conclusions 

The Monitoring Officer’s report sets out the elements of good governance and 
demonstrates that robust procedures are in place to raise ethical standards, 
identify problems and ensure that Members, Officers and the Public are aware of 
appropriate channels to raise concerns. 

  

Martin Goodman 
Monitoring Officer 

Appendices

Monitoring Officer’s Report with attached letter from the IPCO

Background Papers

None. 

Page 4

Agenda Item 3



 
Appendix 

 

 

 

ANNUAL REPORT OF THE 

MONITORING OFFICER 

CALENDAR YEAR 2023 

 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



 
Appendix 

 

Introduction 

This is the nineteenth Annual Report of the Monitoring Officer, for the period January 
2023 to December 2023.  The purpose of the Monitoring Officer’s Report is to provide 
an annual overview of the work of the Monitoring Officer, the work of the Standards 
Committee and the general governance arrangements of the Council.  Reporting 
provides an opportunity to review and learn from experience.   

The Report also gives Members of the Standards Committee background information 
to facilitate the carrying out of their functions.  The Report sets out the Monitoring 
Officer’s statutory responsibilities and summarises how those duties were discharged 
during 2023 in accordance with legislation and the Council’s Constitution.  Where 
necessary the Report draws attention to those issues requiring attention in the 
coming year. 

1. Recommendations 

That the Standards Committee notes the Monitoring Officer’s Annual Report. 

That Full Council notes the Monitoring Officer’s Annual Report. 
 
2. The Role of the Monitoring Officer 

The role of the Monitoring Officer derives from the Local Government and Housing 
Act 1989.  The Act requires local authorities to appoint a Monitoring Officer.   

The Monitoring Officer has a broad role in ensuring the lawfulness and fairness of 
Council decision making, ensuring compliance with Codes and Protocols, promoting 
good governance and promoting high ethical standards.   

A Summary of the Monitoring Officer’s Functions is as follows: 

Description Source 

Report on contraventions or likely 
contraventions of any enactment or 
rule of law 

Local Government and Housing Act 
1989 

Report on any maladministration or 
injustice where the Ombudsman has 
carried out an investigation 

Local Government and Housing Act 
1989 

Appoint a Deputy Local Government and Housing Act 
1989 

Establish and maintain the Register of 
Members’ interests. 

The Localism Act 2011 (Commencement 
No. 6 and Transitional, Savings and 
Transitory Provisions) Order 2012 

The Localism Act 2011 

The Relevant Authorities (Disclosable 
Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012 

Page 6

Agenda Item 3



 
Appendix 

Description Source 

Report on sufficiency of resources. Local Government and Housing Act 
1989 

Maintain the Constitution The Constitution 

Promote and maintain high standards of 
conduct. 

The Localism Act 2011 

Grant Dispensations  The Localism Act 2011 and delegation 
from Council 

Consulting with, supporting and 
advising the Head of Paid Service and 
s.151 Officer on issues of lawfulness 
and probity. 

The Constitution 

Appointing an Investigating Officer in 
relation to Member Complaints 

The Localism Act 2011 and the 
Constitution 

Advising the Standards Hearings Sub 
Committee in relation to allegations of 
breaches of the Code of Conduct and 
advising when matters are determined 
following an investigation 

The Localism Act 2011 and the 
Constitution 

Advise on whether executive decisions 
are within the Budget & Policy 
Framework. 

The Constitution 

Provide advice on vires issues, 
maladministration, financial 
impropriety, probity, Budget, and 
Policy Framework issues to all 
members. 

The Constitution and s.5 of Local 
Government and Housing Act 1989   

Legal Advice and Support to the 
authority 

The Constitution 

Considering whether certain 
Information is exempt from disclosure 
under the Freedom of Information Act. 

Freedom of Information Act 2000 

3. The Constitution 

The Constitution sets out how the Council operates and how decisions are made.  It 
sets out the procedures which are followed to ensure that these decisions are 
efficient, transparent and that those who make the decisions are accountable to 
local people.  The Monitoring Officer is responsible for ensuring that the 
Constitution operates efficiently, is properly maintained and is diligently followed.   

Page 7

Agenda Item 3



 
Appendix 

 

3.1 Constitutional Review and Revision 

This Council continues to update its Constitution as and when necessary.  The 
Governance Committee, rather than the Standards Committee, is responsible for 
recommending changes to the Council’s constitutional arrangements.   

3.2 Fitness for Purpose 

The Constitution sets out in clear terms how the Council operates and how 
decisions are made.  Some of these processes are required by law, while others are 
a matter for the Council to choose.  The purpose of the Constitution is to: 

• ensure that those responsible for decision making are clearly identifiable 
to local people and that they explain the reasons for decisions;  

• support the active involvement of local people in local authority decision 
making; 

• help Members represent local people more effectively; 

• enable decisions to be taken efficiently and effectively; and 

• hold decision makers to public account. 

3.3 Managing the Constitution 

Any significant changes to the Council’s decision-making arrangements and 
Committee structure need to be approved by full Council.  The Council will monitor 
and review the operation of the Constitution to ensure that the aims and principles 
of the Constitution are given full effect.  The Governance Committee ensures that 
this takes place. 

4. Lawfulness and Maladministration 

The Monitoring Officer is the Council’s lead adviser on issues of lawfulness and the 
Council’s powers.  In consultation with the Head of Paid Service and the Chief 
Finance Officer (s.151 Officer) he advises on compliance with the Budget and Policy 
Framework.  Part of this role involves monitoring Committee reports, agendas and 
decisions to ensure compliance with legislation and the Constitution.   

The Monitoring Officer ensures that agendas, reports and minutes of all Council 
meetings are made publicly available unless there is a reason for exemption under 
the Local Government Act 1972. In addition, Portfolio Holder decisions are also 
made publicly available subject to the same caveat as are all planning and licensing 
decisions made by Officers including other Officer delegated decisions as required 
by the Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 2014.  It is of course the 
Council’s position that where required by law all such decisions should easily be 
accessible by members of the public through the Council’s website: 
www.sevenoaks.gov.uk 

For information, Members should note that during 2022/23 there were three 
detailed investigations carried out by the Local Government and Social Care 

Page 8

Agenda Item 3

http://www.sevenoaks.gov.uk/


 
Appendix 

Ombudsman.  In one of the cases the Council received Ombudsman 
recommendations, which were implemented.  Beyond this comment, Members 
should note that it is not the function of the Monitoring Officer to report on levels 
of customer satisfaction or Ombudsman outcomes, which are reported elsewhere.   

By way of comparison, in the previous year (2021/22) there were five detailed 
investigations carried out by the Ombudsman, three of which received Ombudsman 
recommendations.  All those recommendations were implemented. 

If the Monitoring Officer considers that any proposal, decision or omission would 
give rise to unlawfulness or if any decision or omission has given rise to 
maladministration he must report to Full Council or where appropriate the Cabinet 
after first consulting with the Head of Paid Service and the Chief Finance Officer 
(s.151 Officer).  Any proposal or decision that is subject to such a report cannot be 
implemented until the report has been considered. 

The sound governance arrangements operated by the Council ensure that the 
power to report potentially unlawful decision making is rarely used.  The 
Monitoring Officer did not have to issue such a report throughout 2023.   

5. Good Governance 
 
The Monitoring Officer has a pro-active role in promoting good practice, good 
procedures and good governance.  This involves networking, collaboration, joined-
up working practices and decision making as well as ensuring standing orders, codes 
of practice, procedures are kept under review and up to date.  The Monitoring 
Officer regularly meets with the Head of Paid Service (the Chief Executive) and sits 
on Strategic Management Team with the Chief Officers including the s.151 officer 
(Chief Finance Officer).  The Monitoring Officer also works in partnership with 
officers of the Council to develop and disseminate policies and procedures. 
 
6. The Ethical Framework and Work of the Standards Committee 

The Standards Committee (introduced on the 24 July 2012) comprises seven 
Members.  Legislation allows for the appointment of Independent Persons, who 
have a statutory role under the Localism Act 2011 to assist any Member who has 
been accused of breaching the Code of Conduct.  Sevenoaks District Council has 
appointed two Independent Persons.  They are not co-opted Members of the 
Standards Committee although they are given details of the Committee’s meeting 
date in order that they may attend. 

The Independent Persons also assist the Monitoring Officer in considering 
complaints and are consulted by the Monitoring Officer following investigations to 
help decide what action to take. 

The Standards Committee has a key role in facilitating and promoting the Ethical 
Framework and in promoting and maintaining high standards of conduct within the 
Authority. The terms of reference of the committee are set out within Part 3 of the 
Constitution entitled “Standards Committee”. 

Examples of the Standards Committee’s work during 2023 are as follows: 

Page 9

Agenda Item 3



 
Appendix 

 

• Receiving the Annual Monitoring Officer’s Report 

• Being on Standby to grant Dispensations 

• Being on Standby to carry out hearings 

7. Disclosable Pecuniary Interests and Non-Pecuniary Interests 

The codes of conduct of relevant authorities must include provision for the 
registration and disclosure of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (DPIs) as defined in 
the Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012.  The 
Localism Act 2011 introduced criminal offences for failure to register DPIs.   

Members are aware that they commit a criminal offence if they participate or vote 
when they have a DPI ‘in’ a matter.  A Member has a DPI ‘in’ a matter where it is, 
or includes, his interest – where there is a close alignment between the interest 
and the matter under consideration.  Ultimately the responsibility for complying 
with this provision lies upon Members although the Monitoring Officer will provide 
advice as necessary.   

Disclosable pecuniary interests are defined in the Relevant Authorities (Disclosable 
Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012.  Members are aware that even if a Member’s 
interest does not amount to a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest, if their interest in a 
matter would lead them to predetermine a decision, or look like they are biased, it 
would not be appropriate for that member to participate in the decision.  If they 
did so the decision could be vulnerable to challenge.  The Sevenoaks District 
Council Code of Conduct also requires the registration of certain non-pecuniary 
interests, although no criminal liability attaches to a failure to register. 

The prohibition on participation in any discussion or vote on an item of Council 
business in which they have a DPI ensures that Councillors cannot put their private 
financial interests before the public interest.  However, where a Councillor has a 
Disclosable Pecuniary Interest but stands to make no personal financial gain by 
speaking or voting on Council business related to that interest, they can apply for a 
dispensation under section 33 of the Localism Act 2011.  The grounds for granting a 
dispensation will depend on the circumstances.   

Dispensations are mostly considered by the Standards Sub-Committee for Granting 
Dispensations, although the Monitoring Officer has power to grant dispensations in 
circumstances where a meeting may not be quorate.  In respect of parish and town 
councils, the Clerk has the power to consider and grant dispensations. 

Members convicted of offences under the Act are liable to a fine of £5,000 and may 
also be disqualified from being a councillor for up to five years.  This should not be 
confused with the offence of Misconduct in Public Office, instances of which are 
rare and which carries a maximum penalty of life imprisonment upon conviction. 

8. Code of Conduct for Employees 

The Code is based on an original draft published by the IDeA and has been updated 
since being implemented in 2006.  The Code forms part of the employers’ terms 
and conditions of employment.  The Code is available on the Council’s intranet and 

Page 10

Agenda Item 3



 
Appendix 

is introduced to employees during the induction process along with relevant 
policies.  

Under the Code employees must declare any non-financial or financial interests 
that they or members of their family have which they consider could conflict with 
the Council’s interests.  Chief Officers and the Chief Executive declarations of non-
financial or financial interests are declared to the Monitoring Officer.  

All relationships of a business or private nature with external contractors, or 
potential contractors should be made known to the employees’ Managers and Chief 
Officers.  All hospitality received and given should be appropriate, necessary and 
must, wherever possible, have the prior sanction of the relevant Chief Officer and 
must be recorded in the Hospitality Book kept by the Chief Executive’s Secretary.  
There is a Protocol on Corruption, Gifts and Hospitality contained within the Staff 
Code of Conduct.  The Hospitality Book is regularly reviewed by the Monitoring 
Officer, Head of Paid Service and s. 151 Officer (known as the Statutory Officers). 

9. Standards Committee and the Code of Conduct 

Members will understand the Sevenoaks District Council Members Code of Conduct 
differs from the Model Code of Conduct produced by the LGA.  However, the 
Sevenoaks Code is fully compliant with the Localism Act 2011. 

Town and Parish Councils have adopted their own Codes based on the seven Nolan 
principles of selflessness, integrity, objectivity, accountability, openness, honesty 
and leadership.  The District Council encourages town and parish councils to adopt 
the Sevenoaks District Council Code, although it is known that some have adopted 
the National Association of Local Councils’ model. 

The Standards Committee is an ordinary committee of the Council which means 
that it is subject to the usual requirements relating to access to information and 
political balance.  If so minded, it is within the Standards Committee’s terms of 
reference to advise the Council on the adoption of revisions to the Code of Conduct 
to implement best practice. 

10. Complaints against Members 
 
The current Standards Regime, set up under the Localism Act 2011, was 
implemented by this Council in July 2012.  This provides a mechanism for receiving 
and processing complaints against Members. 

Under the Localism Act 2011 authorities are not obliged to include provisions in their 
arrangements for Members to be able to appeal against findings that they have 
breached the Code of Conduct.  In line with this, Sevenoaks District Council decided 
not to include appeal provisions in its arrangements, although for procedural 
irregularity a complaint can always be made to the Ombudsman.  

The Localism Act 2011 makes no provision for sanctions against Members found to 
have breached the Code of Conduct.  However, authorities can censure Members, 
they can publicise breaches of the Code of Conduct, they can arrange for a report 
to Full Council and they also can recommend that Members be removed from 

Page 11

Agenda Item 3



 
Appendix 

 

positions on committees and outside bodies.  Sevenoaks District Council has 
additionally decided to empower the Monitoring Officer to be consider Member 
training and/or conciliation, if appropriate. 

No formal complaints were logged as received between January and December 
2023.  Remarkably, there were no complaints in the run-up to the election, which 
can be a period of heightened sensitivity.  For comparison, there were five 
complaints between January and December 2022.  It appears that the Code of 
Conduct is well observed. 

Under the existing arrangements for complaints, the Monitoring Officer first carries 
out an ‘initial intake test’ to determine whether the complaint can be processed.   

If it passes that test, it will thereafter be assessed and the Monitoring Officer will 
take no further action, attempt informal resolution or recommend formal 
investigation.  In the latter case, if the investigation concludes that there is 
evidence of failure to comply with the Code of Conduct, the Monitoring Officer 
(having consulted the Independent Person) will either seek informal resolution or 
refer the matter to the Standards Hearing Sub Committee.   

 
11. Support to Councillors, Cabinet, Scrutiny and Committee Meetings 

The distribution and publication of committee reports, agendas and decisions is 
central to meeting the requirements of a key deliverable.  It is the Monitoring 
Officer’s responsibility to oversee the process and ensure that these documents 
comply with statutory and constitutional requirements.  He also oversees the 
annual reporting to the Audit Committee of the proper working of the Members’ 
Allowance Scheme. 

Ensuring compliance with the committee process includes: 

• Distributing and publishing all agendas within five clear working days of the 
meeting taking place and ensuring that all agendas are compliant with the 
access to information rules and exempt information is marked up 
accordingly.  

• Advertising public meetings five clear days before the meeting date.  

• Ensuring that papers are made available to the public.  

• Drafting minutes for publication within nine working days.  

• Publishing a record of all decisions including key decisions taken by Cabinet 
within 48 hours (2 working days) of the meeting.  

• Ensuring that petitions are handled in accordance with the Council’s 
Constitution including e-petitioning.  

• Ensuring that meetings are accessible. 

Page 12

Agenda Item 3



 
Appendix 

• Complying with the requirements of The Local Authorities (Executive 
Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 
2012. 

• The Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 2014 

• Attendance at Cabinet and Council.  

One of the explicit aims of the Council has been to try and streamline the decision-
making process to allow Council to focus on service delivery.  The following is the 
statutory meetings analysis, covering statutory meetings which were quorate and 
were serviced between 1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023:  

• Annual Council-1 
• Audit Committee-4 
• Cabinet-12 
• Cleaner and Greener Advisory Committee-4 
• Council-6 
• Development and Conservation Advisory Committee-4 
• Development Management Committee-12 
• Finance and Investment Advisory Committee-5  
• Governance Committee-2 
• Health Liaison Board-2 
• Housing and Health Advisory Committee-4 
• Improvement and Innovation Advisory Committee-4 
• Licensing Committee-4 
• Licensing Hearing-4 
• People and Places Advisory Committee-4 
• Scrutiny Committee-5 
• Sevenoaks Joint Transportation Board-4 
• Standards Committee-1 

The volume of meetings represents a substantial commitment of both Councillors’ 
and Officers’ time and resources.  It is of great importance that meetings 
constitute an effective use of time and resources; that they add value to corporate 
effectiveness and help in meeting the aims and objectives of the Constitution and 
the Community Plan and Corporate Plan. 

The requirements for notice of Key Decisions set out in the Local Authorities 
(Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) (England) 
Regulations 2012 are being followed to the satisfaction of the Monitoring Officer.   

The Council is required by Law to discharge certain scrutiny functions and this 
function is fulfilled to the satisfaction of the Monitoring Officer by the Scrutiny 
Committee.   

Page 13

Agenda Item 3



 
Appendix 

 

12. Member Training and Development 

It should be noted that certain compulsory Licensing and Planning training is 
provided to relevant Members on a regular basis.  Upon election all Members are 
always provided with induction training.  Once again, training has been made 
available to Members since the last Council election, across a wide range of areas 
relevant to Council business. 

13. GDPR 

On 25 May 2018 the General Data Protection Regulation came into force.  The Data 
Protection Act 1998 has been replaced by the Data Protection Act 2018, giving 
individuals greater rights, protections and freedoms.  During 2023 these rights were 
well protected and there was a moderate amount of customer contact in relation 
to data matters. 

It is, however, essential to remember that the Council must be ready to honour the 
various rights enshrined in GDPR, the ‘right to be forgotten’ and the right of 
subject access.  Robust systems are in place to ensure that the public can exercise 
these rights as they should. 
 
Furthermore, policies and procedures are in place to ensure compliance and the 
Monitoring Officer is satisfied that the necessary changes and developments have 
occurred.  The Council is fully compliant with GDPR and this is a testament to the 
hard work of Officers and Members in implementing the provisions. 

14.  Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 

The Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (RIPA) introduced a statutory 
framework for those carrying out surveillance as part of an investigation. The 
Protection of Freedoms Act 2012 (2012 Act) amended RIPA to provide additional 
controls. The internal authorisation process is now followed by external 
authorisation from a Justice of the Peace. 

In practice the District Council seeks to carry out any necessary surveillance 
activity by overt means, whereby it is not necessary to engage the provisions of 
RIPA.  There was no need for any RIPA authorisations during the year. 

In July 2023, the Council received written confirmation from the Investigatory 
Powers Commissioner’s Office that the Commissioner was satisfied of the Council’s 
ongoing compliance with RIPA and the Investigatory Powers Act 2016.  As such, the 
Council did not require further inspection.  The next potential inspection will be 
due in 2026.  The letter is attached to this report. 

15.  Conclusion 

The key legal provisions and challenges facing the Council remain the same as in 
previous years, in that there is a need for the Monitoring Officer to carry out both a 
proactive and reactive role in conjunction with the Standards Committee.  This 
involves raising standards, encouraging ethical behaviour, adopting good 
governance and promoting robust procedures.  The Monitoring Officer has every 

Page 14

Agenda Item 3



 
Appendix 

confidence that Members act within the Nolan Principles of selflessness, integrity, 
objectivity, accountability, openness, honesty and leadership.  

In many ways, 2023 was a notable year.  The local election in May brought many 
new Members along with a change in Leader.  The change in political party 
numbers has inevitably led to a refocussing of energy, although very many of the 
same features and challenges remain across all areas.  Despite this, there were no 
Member complaints during 2023. 

The Council carried out its functions against the challenging backdrop of the rising 
cost of living and increased strain upon the nation’s finances.  The Council 
continued to serve local customers in an outstanding fashion during this period and 
remained fully in line with the ethical framework.  With great pride it was 
announced a Platinum Investor in People, an outstanding achievement. 

As a Statutory Officer with specific duties and powers set out in the Constitution, 
the Monitoring Officer has a reactive enforcement role.  Together with the 
Standards Committee it is his job to enforce the Code of Conduct and relevant 
sections of the Localism Act 2011.  As can be seen from the above, there are only 
ever very few reports of misconduct amongst Members.  Nevertheless, the Council 
cannot take this for granted.  All Officers and Members must remain vigilant and 
active in safeguarding the high benchmarks of reputation and probity by which we 
judge ourselves.   

Members are asked to note this report which sets out the elements of good 
governance and demonstrates that robust procedures are in place to maintain 
ethical standards, identify problems and to ensure that all are aware of 
appropriate channels to raise concerns. 

Martin Goodman 
Monitoring Officer 

Page 15

Agenda Item 3



This page is intentionally left blank



OFFICIAL 
 

 0207 389 8900  info@ipco.org.uk  @IPCOffice  www.ipco.org.uk 
OFFICIAL 

 

 

 

PO Box 29105, London 
SW1V 1ZU 

 
 
 
 
Martin.Goodman@sevenoaks.gov.uk       25th July 2023 
 
 
Dear Mr. Goodman, 
 
Thank you for providing IPCO with your response to the matters identified at points 1 to 10 of my Inspector’s 
letter dated 7th July 2023. 
 
I am satisfied that your reply provides your assurance that ongoing compliance with RIPA 2000 and the 
Investigatory Powers Act 2016 will be maintained. As such, your Council will not require further inspection this 
year.  
 
I would ask that you ensure that the key compliance issues continue to receive the necessary internal 
governance and oversight through yourself and your Senior Responsible Officer: policy refreshes; annual 
updates to your Elected Members; ongoing training and awareness raising; internal compliance monitoring by 
lead managers within their business areas; and the retention, review and destruction (RRD) of any product 
obtained through the use of covert powers (Records and Product Management in accordance with the 
Safeguards Chapters of the relevant Codes of Practice).  
 
Your Council will be due its next inspection in 2026, but please do not hesitate to contact my Office if IPCO can 
be of assistance in the intervening period. Please bring this to the attention of your Chief Executive and any 
other parties whom you deem appropriate. 
 

 
Yours sincerely, 

 
 
 
 
 
 

The Rt. Hon. Sir Brian Leveson  
The Investigatory Powers Commissioner 

 

Page 17

Agenda Item 3

file://///poise.homeoffice.local/data/L01/domgroup/IPCO/Office%20Document%20Templates/Letter%20Heads/www.ipco.org.uk


This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	3 Monitoring Officer's Annual Report
	MONITORING OFFICER’S ANNUAL REPORT
	Standards Committee – 27 February 2024
	Introduction and Background
	Key Implications
	Financial
	The Monitoring Officer’s Report has not identified any financial implications for this Council over and above normal requirements.
	Legal Implications and Risk Assessment Statement
	The Monitoring Officer’s Report has not uncovered any illegality.
	Equality Assessment  (Compulsory heading – do not delete)
	Net Zero Implications

	Appendices
Monitoring Officer’s Report with attached letter from the IPCO
Background Papers
None.

	Monitoring Officer's Report 2024 updated
	MONITORING OFFICER
	Introduction
	1.	Recommendations
	2.	The Role of the Monitoring Officer
	3.	The Constitution
	4.	Lawfulness and Maladministration
	5.	Good Governance
	6.	The Ethical Framework and Work of the Standards Committee
	7.	Disclosable Pecuniary Interests and Non-Pecuniary Interests
	8.	Code of Conduct for Employees
	9.	Standards Committee and the Code of Conduct
	10.	Complaints against Members
	11.	Support to Councillors, Cabinet, Scrutiny and Committee Meetings
	12.	Member Training and Development
	13.	GDPR
	14. 	Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act

	20230725 - Sevenoaks District Council IPCO Final Reply Letter


